FILED

MAR 2 5 2013

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION III

No. 31098-1-III

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

CHRISTOPHER RANDOLPH TATE, Appellant.

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

Andrea Burkhart, WSBA #38519 Burkhart & Burkhart, PLLC 6 ¹/₂ N. 2nd Avenue, Suite 200 PO Box 946 Walla Walla, WA 99362 Tel: (509) 529-0630 Fax: (509) 525-0630 Attorney for Appellant

FILED

MAR 2 5 2013

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION III

No. 31098-1-III

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

CHRISTOPHER RANDOLPH TATE, Appellant.

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

I. INTRODUCTION

Christopher Tate was arrested in his car. Police retrieved a bag from the vehicle in which they found a firearm and a glass pipe with methamphetamine residue. Tate requested a jury instruction on unwitting possession. The instruction given was expressly limited to the methamphetamine charge. Although Tate requested, and the parties apparently intended to give, an unwitting possession instruction as to the firearm as well, no such instruction was given. The jury acquitted Tate on the methamphetamine charge and convicted on the firearm charge.

Under the facts of the case, the failure to give the unwitting possession instruction was not harmless. Because the jury's verdict was probably affected by the instructional error, the conviction should be reversed and the case remanded for a new trial.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

<u>ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 1:</u> The trial court erred in failing to instruct the jury on the defense of unwitting possession as to the firearm charge.

<u>ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 2:</u> Defense counsel rendered ineffective assistance in failing to request an unwitting possession instruction on the firearm charge.

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

<u>ISSUE 1:</u> Did the instructions as given deprive Tate of the ability to present a defense to the firearm charge? YES.

ISSUE 2: Did the instructional error likely affect the jury's verdict? YES.

<u>ISSUE 3:</u> Did defense counsel's failure to review the instructions fall below an objective standard of reasonableness and cause prejudice to Tate? YES.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Christopher Tate was charged with being a felon in possession of a firearm and possession of methamphetamine after being stopped for a traffic violation and arrested on a warrant. CP 4-5; 33-34. At trial, police testified that they found a loaded firearm in a bag in the back seat. RP 5/15/12 at 28. The arresting officer claimed that Tate told him there was a gun in the car but denied that it was his gun. RP 5/15/12 at 27-28. Tate told the officer that he discovered the gun when it fell out of the bag. RP 5/15/12 at 55. Tate's son testified that on the morning before Tate was stopped, he had seen somebody in the back seat of the car, where the bag was later retrieved. RP 5/15/12 at 84-85.

The bag also contained a baggie of marijuana and a pouch holding

a glass pipe with residue. RP 5/15/12 at 36, 44. A forensic scientist

testified that a substance found in the pipe tested positive for

methamphetamine. RP 5/15/12 at 60.

Instruction No. 9 read,

Possession means having a firearm in one's custody or control. It may be either actual or constructive. Actual possession occurs when the item is in the actual physical custody of the person charged with possession. Constructive possession occurs when there is no actual physical possession but there is dominion and control over the item.

Proximity alone without proof of dominion and control is insufficient to establish constructive possession. Dominion and control need not be exclusive to support a finding of constructive possession.

In deciding whether the defendant had dominion and control over an item, you are to consider all the relevant circumstances in the case. Factors that you may consider, among others, include whether the defendant had the immediate ability to take actual possession of the item, whether the defendant had the capacity to exclude others from possession of the item, and whether the defendant had dominion and control over the premises where the item was located. No single one of these factors necessarily controls your decision.

CP 57-58.

Similarly, Instruction No. 12 read,

Possession means having a substance in one's custody or control. It may be either actual or constructive. Actual possession occurs when the item is in the actual physical custody of the person charged with possession.





Constructive possession occurs when there is no actual physical possession but there is dominion and control over the substance.

Proximity alone without proof of dominion and control is insufficient to establish constructive possession. Dominion and control need not be exclusive to support a finding of constructive possession.

In deciding whether the defendant had dominion and control over a substance, you are to consider all the relevant circumstances in the case. Factors that you may consider, among others, include whether the defendant had the immediate ability to take actual possession of the substance, whether the defendant had the capacity to exclude others from possession of the substance, and whether the defendant had dominion and control over the premises where the substance was located. No single one of these factors necessarily controls your decision.

CP 61-62.

Instruction No. 15 read,

A person is not guilty of possession of a controlled substance if the possession is unwitting. Possession of a controlled substance is unwitting if a person did not know that the substance was in his possession or did not know the nature of the substance.

The burden is on the defendant to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the substance was possessed unwittingly. Preponderance of the evidence means that you must be persuaded, considering all of the evidence in the case, that it is more probably true than not true.

CP 65. Defense counsel did not object to the instructions. RP 5/15/12 at

89.

The jury convicted Tate of unlawful possession of a firearm and acquitted as to possession of a controlled substance. CP 68-69. The trial court sentenced him to 55 months based on an offender score of 8. CP 72, 75. Tate appeals. CP 185.

V. ARGUMENT

On review, Tate alleges that the trial court erred and his defense counsel rendered ineffective assistance when the instructions given failed to adequately advise the jury of the defense of unwitting possession as to the firearm found in his vehicle.

Jury instructions are reviewed *de novo*, within the context of the instructions as a whole. *State v. Jackman*, 156 Wn.2d 736, 743, 132 P.3d 136 (2006). An instruction that is not objected to at trial may be raised on appeal if it "invades a fundamental right of the accused." *State v. Levy*, 156 Wn.2d 709, 719, 132 P.3d 1076 (2006) (*quoting State v. Becker*, 132 Wn.2d 54, 64, 935 P.2d 1321 (1997)). In the present case, the failure to rigorously review and correct the instructions adequately to ensure that the unwitting possession instruction – which was requested by the defense – was actually given goes to the heart of the defendant's right to present a defense with the assistance of a vigorous advocate.

A defendant has a right to present his theory of the case to the jury, including the right to have the jury instructed on affirmative defenses if warranted by the evidence. *State v. Williams*, 132 Wn.2d 248, 259-60, 937 P.2d 1052 (1997). Here, Tate's counsel proposed an instruction on unwitting possession. CP 43-44. But the instruction was limited to the possession of a controlled substance and did not, on its face, instruct the jury that it should consider the defense of unwitting possession as to the firearm. No unwitting possession instruction was proposed or given as to the firearm. As such, the instructions failed to advise the jury on the crux of Tate's defense – namely, that he did not know the gun was in his possession and only discovered it when it fell out of the bag.

Because Tate proposed the unwitting possession instruction, it is anticipated that the State will contend that the doctrine of invited error precludes his challenge to the instructions now. *See generally State v. Henderson*, 114 Wn.2d 867, 870-71, 792 P.2d 514 (1990). But the doctrine does not apply in this case for two reasons: First, because giving Instruction No. 15 was, in itself, not erroneous; the error alleged is the failure to give an instruction on unwitting possession as to the firearm; and second, because to the extent error was invited, such error comprises ineffective assistance to Tate.

The Sixth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution and Article I, Section 22 of the Washington State Constitution guarantee criminal defendants effective assistance of counsel. State v. Grier, 171 Wn.2d 17, 32, 246 P.3d 1260 (2011). Representation is ineffective, and therefore constitutionally deficient, when (1) counsel's performance falls below an objective standard of reasonableness, and (2) the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. Id. at 32-33. Assistance is presumed to be reasonable and the burden is on the defendant to show deficient performance. Id. at 33 (quoting State v. Kyllo, 166 Wn.2d 856, 862, 215 P.3d 177 (2009); State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 335, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995)). Legitimate trial strategy does not establish ineffective performance; however, a defendant can rebut the presumption that performance was reasonable by demonstrating that there is no legitimate tactic or strategy justifying the performance. *Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d at 863; State v. Reichenbach, 153 Wn.2d 126, 130, 101 P.3d 80 (2004).

In the present case, no conceivable trial tactic or strategy excuses the failure to request an unwitting possession instruction as to the firearm. There was no factual dispute as to whether Tate possessed the firearm in his car; the only possible defense was that he did not know it was there until it fell out of his bag. By failing to request the instruction as to the firearm, defense counsel eliminated the opportunity for the jury to find that Tate's possession of the firearm was unwitting.

Moreover, the performance was prejudicial because there is a reasonable likelihood that but for the failure to request the instruction, the jury would have reached a different verdict. Kyllo, 166 Wn.2d at 862. Here, the jury acquitted Tate of the charge of possession of methamphetamine, notwithstanding that the pipe was found in the same bag as the gun. CP 68. It is entirely possible that the jury failed to acquit on the firearm charge because no instruction was given that allowed consideration of the unwitting possession defense as to the firearm. Because the unwitting possession instruction that was given specifically identified it as a defense to the possession of a controlled substance and not possession of a firearm, the implication was that unwitting possession applied *only* to the controlled substance charge. A jury carefully following its instructions as to the law would have had no alternative but to convict on the firearm charge. A jury that was correctly advised that unwitting possession could also apply to the firearm charge may well have reached a different verdict.

VI. CONCLUSION

Read as a whole, the instructions in the case failed to accurately and completely advise the jury as to Tate's defense to the unlawful possession of a firearm charge. Although counsel's proffered instruction was accurate and sufficient to raise the unwitting possession defense as to the controlled substance charge, counsel's failure to propose a similar instruction permitting the jury to consider whether Tate unwittingly possessed the firearm as well fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. As a result, the jury was not permitted to consider Tate's defense as to the firearm charge. Because counsel rendered ineffective assistance in failing to propose adequate instructions on Tate's defense, the conviction should be reversed and the case remanded for retrial.