FILED  
June 6, 2013  
Court of Appeals  
Division III  
State of Washington

NO. 310981-III

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

CHRISTOPHER RANDOLPH TATE Appellant

---

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT  
FOR BENTON COUNTY

NO. 11-1-00784-1

---

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

ANDY MILLER  
Prosecuting Attorney  
for Benton County

JULIE E. LONG, Chief Deputy  
Prosecuting Attorney  
BAR NO. 28276  
OFFICE ID 91004

7122 West Okanogan Place  
Bldg. A  
Kennewick WA 99336  
(509) 735-3591

**

## **I. STATEMENT OF FACTS**

On July 25, 2011, Trooper David Brandt of the Washington State Patrol was traveling southbound on Yelm Street near Clearwater Avenue in Benton County, Washington, when he observed a vehicle traveling in excess of the posted speed limit of 30 m.p.h. (RP May 15, 2012, at 22). Trooper Brandt checked the vehicle's speed with his radar and found it to be traveling at 39 m.p.h. (RP May 15, 2012, at 22-23). Trooper Brandt activated his emergency lights and initiated a traffic stop of the vehicle. (RP May 15, 2012, at 23). The vehicle came to a stop on Yelm Street in Kennewick, but remained in the middle of the right lane of travel. (RP May 15, 2012, at 23). Trooper Brandt made contact with the sole occupant of the vehicle, Christopher Randolph Tate, the defendant. (RP May 15, 2012, at 23).

Upon contact with the defendant, Trooper Brandt observed that the defendant appeared nervous and was visibly shaking. (RP May 15, 2012, at 23). The defendant was asked to produce his driver's license, registration, and proof of insurance. (RP May 15, 2012, at 23). The defendant gave Trooper Brandt his driver's license, but did not look for the registration or insurance card and advised Trooper Brandt that he did not have them. (RP May 15, 2012, at 23-24). Trooper Brandt ran the defendant's license through the database system, and found that the

defendant had two outstanding warrants for his arrest. (RP February 15, 2012, at 4). Trooper Brandt requested the aid of an additional Trooper, due to his intention to take the defendant into custody. (RP February 15, 2012, at 4). Trooper Brad Neff responded to this request and the defendant was placed into custody. (RP May 15, 2012, at 24).

Trooper Brandt then inquired of the defendant what he wanted to do with his vehicle. (RP May 15, 2012, at 25). The Troopers were prohibited from leaving the vehicle where the defendant had parked it due to the fact that it was blocking the roadway. (RP May 15, 2012, at 25). Washington State Patrol policies and procedures allow for Troopers to move a person's vehicle to avoid having it towed if the driver signs a waiver of liability. (RP May 15, 2012, at 25). The defendant elected to have the Troopers move his vehicle in lieu of having it towed. (RP May 15, 2012, at 25). Immediately upon entering the defendant's vehicle, Trooper Neff detected the odor of marijuana. (RP May 15, 2012, at 69). Trooper Brandt detected the same odor of marijuana when Trooper Neff exited the vehicle. (RP May 15, 2012, at 26).

Based upon the odor of marijuana, Trooper Brandt returned to his patrol vehicle to re-contact the defendant. (RP May 15, 2012, at 26). The defendant was advised of his *Miranda* warnings, which he agreed to waive and speak with Trooper Brandt. (RP May 15, 2012 at 26). The defendant

first stated that that the marijuana odor was coming from him and not the vehicle. (RP May 15, 2012 at 26). However, the defendant had been seated in Trooper Brandt's vehicle for a few minutes and he was unable to detect any odor of marijuana in his patrol vehicle. (RP May 15, 2012 at 26).

Confronted with this fact, the defendant admitted to Trooper Brandt that he did in fact have marijuana in the vehicle. (RP May 15, 2012 at 26). The defendant stated there was a small baggie in the vehicle behind the driver's seat. (RP May 15, 2012 at 26). The defendant then requested permission to enter the vehicle to retrieve the marijuana. (RP May 15, 2012 at 26). The Troopers denied the defendant's request due to safety concerns. (RP May 15, 2012, at 26-27). The defendant then got visibly upset and began to cry. (RP May 15, 2012, at 27). The defendant admitted to the Troopers that there was a gun, he identified as a revolver, in the vehicle. (RP May 15, 2012, at 27-28). The defendant said the gun belonged to a friend, but did not state the friend's name. (RP May 15, 2012, at 28).

Based upon the defendant's admissions, a search warrant was obtained for the defendant's vehicle. (RP May 15, 2012, at 27-28). During a search of the vehicle, Troopers located the vehicle registration in the center console that listed the defendant as the registered owner. (RP

May 15, 2012, at 27-28). In the back seat of the vehicle, Troopers located a black bag with a loaded revolver firearm in it. (RP May 15, 2012, at 27-28). Also located were documents from the Department of Licensing of California directly beneath the firearm. (RP May 15, 2012, at 38). These documents bore the defendant's name. (RP May 15, 2012, at 38). A Western Union slip was located in the bag with the firearm, also bearing the defendant's name. (RP May 15, 2012, at 39). Inside the same bag was a black leather pouch, containing a glass smoking device that had residue in it which tested positive for methamphetamine. (RP May 15, 2012, at 44). A baggie of marijuana was also located in the outside pocket of another bag in the vehicle. (RP May 15, 2012, at 36).

The defendant was charged by an amended information with one count of Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the Second Degree and one count of Unlawful Possession of a Controlled Substance - Methamphetamine. (CP 30-32). At trial, the defendant requested a single instruction, on unwitting possession with regard to the Unlawful Possession of a Controlled Substance – Methamphetamine charge. (CP 44). This instruction was given to the jury. (RP May 15, 2012, at 99). No other instructions were requested by the defendant. The defendant was found guilty of one count of Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the Second Degree and not guilty on one count of Unlawful Possession of a

Controlled Substance - Methamphetamine. (CP 70). The defendant now appeals his conviction, arguing that the trial court should have, sua sponte, given an unwitting possession instruction to the jury as to the Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the Second Degree charge, and that it was ineffective assistance of counsel to not request such an instruction. (App. brief at 5).

## **II. ARGUMENT**

### **1. SUBMITTING AN UNWITTING POSSESSION JURY INSTRUCTION WITH REGARD TO A CHARGE OF UNLAWFUL POSSESSION OF A FIREARM IN THE SECOND DEGREE WOULD BE IN ERROR.**

The defendant argues that the court, sua sponte, should have given an additional jury instruction on unwitting possession for the charge of Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the Second Degree. However, such an instruction would have been an error. “Washington has adopted the affirmative defense of unwitting possession in drug possession cases in order to ameliorate the harshness of a strict liability offense.” *State v. Michael*, 160 Wn. App. 522, 526, 247 P.3d 842 (2011). The State does not bear the burden of proving knowledge in drug possession cases. The State’s “to convict” instruction is void of any element requiring that the defendant knew he possessed narcotics. (CP 64). Rather, the unwitting possession defense places the burden on the defendant to show, by a

preponderance of the evidence, that the possession of the drugs was unwitting. (CP 65). This is in contrast to an Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the Second Degree charge. “‘Knowing possession’ is an essential element of the crime of Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the Second Degree.” *State v. Hartzell*, 156 Wn. App. 918, 941, 237 P.3d 928 (2010). The “to convict” instruction for Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the Second degree reads as follows:

To convict the defendant of the crime of unlawful possession of a firearm in the second degree, each of the following elements of the crime must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt:

(1) That on or about July 25, 2011, the defendant **knowingly** owned a firearm or **knowingly** had a firearm in his possession or control;

(Emphasis added). (CP 59).

By sua sponte giving the instruction now demanded by the defendant, the trial court would have shifted the burden from the State to the defense on the element of knowledge, relieving the State of its obligation to prove that the defendant knowingly possessed the firearm beyond a reasonable doubt.

**2. THE JURY INSTRUCTIONS GIVEN BY THE TRIAL COURT WERE SUFFICIENT FOR THE DEFENDANT TO ARGUE HIS THEORY OF THE CASE.**

The State has addressed the defendant's argument that the unwitting possession defense instruction should have been given above. However, there remains the argument that some instruction emphasizing the knowledge element was possible, and that a failure to give such constitutes reversible error. This is clearly contradicted by case law. "The failure to request, or object to, an instruction at trial generally bars a defendant from raising the issue on appeal." *State v. Adams*, 138 Wn. App. 36, 48, 155 P.3d 989 (2007). Indeed, it is error, and a violation of a defendant's constitutional rights, to give an instruction on an affirmative defense that the defendant does not actually wish to be given. *State v. Coristine*, No. 86145-5 \_\_\_ Wn.2d \_\_\_, 300 P.3d 400 (May 9, 2013).

This argument is directly in line with the Court's holding in *State v. Hanson*, 20 Wn. App. 579, 583-584, 581 P.2d 589 (1978). In *State v. Hanson*, a defendant argued that an instruction regarding the defense of consent should have been given, and that to not do so was error, even though he had not requested such an instruction. *Id.* at 584. The Court's response can be summarized as such: "The fundamental rule is that no

error can be predicated on the failure of the trial court to give an instruction when no request for such an instruction was ever made.” *Id.*

There is an exception to that rule, discussed in *Hanson*. When the absence of an instruction denies a defendant a fundamental constitutional right, error may be found, even if the defendant did not request the instruction. *Id.* “Jury instructions are sufficient if they permit each party to argue his theory of the case and properly inform the jury of the applicable law.” *State v. Riley*, 137 Wn.2d 904, 909, 976 P.2d 624 (1999). In the instant case, the defendant’s theory of the case was that his possession of the firearm was unknowing. The to-convict instruction provided to the jury in the instant matter states that possession must be knowing. (CP 59). A definition of knowing was provided to the jury as part of the instructions. (CP 56). The jury was clearly instructed on everything necessary for the defendant’s theory of the case. As a result, the instructions were sufficient.

**3. IT IS NOT INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL TO ELECT TO NOT SHIFT THE BURDEN OF PROOF.**

The defendant’s contention that trial counsel was ineffective for not pursuing an unwitting possession defense is misplaced. Trial counsel required the prosecution to prove each element of the crime beyond a

reasonable doubt. By requesting an unwitting possession instruction, trial counsel would have relieved the State of the burden to prove each element of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. In this exact set of circumstances, it has been held as ineffective assistance to request an unwitting possession defense in a firearms case. *State v. Carter*, 127 Wn. App. 713, 112 P.3d 561 (2005). In sum, the State would offer the words of the Court:

The defense theory of this case was that the State had not proven knowing possession. It was a very reasonable defense in light of the evidence. It would not have been reasonable for counsel to cede the element to the State and attempt to prove the negative. Mr. Michael has not shown that his counsel performed ineffectively by failing to seek an instruction that has never before been applied in this context. Counsel did not err.

*State v. Michael*, 160 Wn. App. 522, 528, 247 P.3d 842 *review denied*, 172 Wn. 2d 1015, 262 P.3d 63 (2011).